





FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS

CLICK ON A QUESTION BELOW AND JUMP STRAIGHT TO THE ANSWER

TABLE OF CONTENTS

WHAT IS INFLUENZA?	
WHY SHOULD I GET A FLU SHOT?	
CAN I GET SICK FROM THE FLU SHOT?	
HOW IS INFLUENZA SPREAD?	
HOW CAN I TELL IF MY CLIENT HAS INFLUENZA?	
WHO SHOULD GET THE INFLUENZA VACCINE?	
WHY SHOULD STAFF WHO DON'T PROVIDE DIRECT CLIENT CARE GET VACCINATED?	
IS THE INFLUENZA VACCINE EFFECTIVE?4	
IS THE INFLUENZA VACCINE SAFE?	
SHOULD PREGNANT WOMEN GET VACCINATED?4	
IS THERE EVIDENCE TO SHOW THAT WEARING A SURGICAL MASK IS EFFECTIVE AT PREVENTING TRANSMISSION OF INFLUENZA VIRUS?4	
HOW DOES INFLUENZA VACCINE WORK TO BOOST MY IMMUNITY?	,
IS THE IMMUNE RESPONSE FROM A VACCINE BETTER THAN IF I BUILD MY IMMUNE RESPONSE BY BEING INFECTED BY THE VIRUS?5	,
WILL THE INFLUENZA VACCINE LEAVE ME MORE SUSCEPTIBLE TO OTHER ILLNESSES? WILL IT REDUCE MY IMMUNE RESPONSE FOR FIGHTING OFF OTHER VIRUSES OR BACTERIA? 5)
HOW IS THE INFLUENZA VACCINE MADE? 5	,
WHAT IS HERD IMMUNITY AND WHY IS IT IMPORTANT?6	
CAN PEOPLE WITH EGG ALLERGIES BE SAFELY IMMUNIZED WITH INFLUENZA VACCINE?6	
WHAT SHOULD PEOPLE DO IF THEY HAVE HAD A PRIOR ALLERGIC REACTION TO AN INFLUENZA VACCINE?	
WHY SHOULD I GET VACCINATED WHEN THE VACCINE DOESN'T ALWAYS WORK WELL?6	
DOES THE INFLUENZA VACCINE WORK BEST IN THE FIRST YEAR YOU GET IT?6	
RESOURCES	





WHAT IS INFLUENZA?

Influenza is a virus that infects the respiratory tract. Influenza symptoms start 1-4 days after viral exposure, and include a runny/stuffy nose, cough, fever, muscle aches and fatigue.¹⁰ Most people with influenza recover, but an average of 2,000 Canadians die every year from influenza and its complications, making influenza the most common infectious disease cause of death in Canada. Between 5 and 10% of healthcare workers get influenza each year.²⁵

WHY SHOULD I GET A FLU SHOT?

Healthcare workers have a fundamental duty to their clients and an ethical responsibility to provide safe care.^{2,6,7,30} Health-care workers are at higher risk of influenza than other adults.²⁵ The influenza vaccine is safe and effective, and our best protection against influenza.^{2,4,8,9} Being vaccinated prevents you from taking influenza home to family and friends, or passing it on to your clients.

Staying home when you are sick helps to prevent the spread of influenza; however, people shed the virus and transmit influenza before they develop symptoms. In addition, healthy adults can be infected with little to no symptoms, and can pass on influenza without even knowing that they are sick.^{2,10,25}

CAN I GET SICK FROM THE FLU SHOT?

About 50% of people get a sore arm after the vaccine. This is usually mild, but can be severe enough to interfere with activity and can last for a few days.^{14,21}

The killed influenza vaccines we now use in Canada contain only surface proteins from the virus, and cannot cause influenza.² We give the influenza vaccine in the fall, when many viruses that cause fevers and "colds" are circulating, and since the vaccine doesn't protect you against these other respiratory viruses, people can get sick after getting their influenza vaccine. We know this because, in studies in which people are randomized to either influenza vaccine or placebo injection, there is no difference in illness.^{14,21} The table below compares symptoms in the 7 days after influenza vaccine or placebo in the largest study.

Symptom	Placebo Injection	Influenza Vaccine
Fever	6.1%	6.2%
Tiredness	19%	19%
Malaise	18%	16%
Muscle aches	5.7%	6.2%
Headaches	14%	11%
Sore arm	24%	64%

Table: Percent of adults reporting symptoms in the 7 days after receiving influenza vaccine or normal saline placebo.^{14,21}

HOW IS INFLUENZA SPREAD?

Influenza is spread by direct contact, like touching someone's shoulder, and by small airborne droplets expelled when we breathe, talk, sneeze or cough.^{8,10} Although most experts believe that influenza is most frequently spread by droplets, improving hand hygiene can prevent up to 50% of influenza.³⁵ This may be because droplets can land on your hands, and then (often unconsciously) you touch your





face. Because influenza vaccine is not 100% effective, additional precautions are required to care for patients infected with influenza. They are called droplet/contact precautions, and include gloves and face protection (either a face shield or goggles and a surgical mask) whenever you enter the room.³⁶

HOW CAN I TELL IF MY CLIENT HAS INFLUENZA?

Influenza can cause both upper and lower respiratory illness. Symptoms of upper respiratory illness include runny/stuffy nose, cough, sore throat, fever, muscle aches, and fatigue. Symptoms of lower respiratory tract disease including cough, shortness of breath and wheezing.⁸⁻¹⁰

Older adults, and those with chronic illnesses, are less likely to have high fever or cough, so can present with just feeling unwell or shortness of breath.³⁶ Because many other viruses also cause these symptoms, the only way to tell for certain if someone has influenza is to take a nasal swab and test it (looking for influenza RNA).⁸

The factors that make influenza more likely are:

- If the illness occurs during the "influenza season" (October to April)
- Fever (the higher the temperature, the more likely influenza is)
- Cough, particularly early cough (in the first few days of illness).8

WHO SHOULD GET THE INFLUENZA VACCINE?

The Canadian National Advisory Committee on Immunization (NACI)² and the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention^{3,4} recommend that all adults and children over the age of six months be vaccinated against influenza each year. Since the virus changes each year, vaccination against seasonal influenza is needed annually.

NACI recommends that immunization should be a particular priority for:²

- People at high risk of influenza-related complications
- Adults and children with chronic health conditions (e.g. asthma, diabetes, cancer, anemia, and others)
- Pregnant women
- People older than 65 years of age
- All children 6 months to 5 years of age
- Residents in nursing homes/other chronic care facilities
- People capable of transmitting influenza to those at high risk
 - Health-care and other care providers
 - Household contacts of individuals at high risk of influenza-related complications, and of children <6 months of age
 - Those providing regular care to children under 24 months of age

WHY SHOULD STAFF WHO DON'T PROVIDE DIRECT CLIENT CARE GET VACCINATED?

Because our staff travel in and out of our office, and influenza spreads easily, even staff who don't provide client care are at risk. They can be exposed to influenza because of other staff members who are sick. Getting vaccinated protects them, and stops them from taking influenza home to their families.¹⁰

Non-client care staff can also spread influenza to vulnerable people during casual contact – for instance: in the lobby, the subway or any common areas.¹⁰

All our staff are important – absenteeism due to influenza among non-client care staff interferes with the function of our agency in the same way that as absenteeism due to influenza among client care staff interferes with client care.





IS THE INFLUENZA VACCINE EFFECTIVE?

Influenza vaccine is our most important protection against influenza.^{2,4} Overall, vaccine prevents 60% of influenza in healthy adults.¹⁴⁻¹⁶ Vaccinated individuals who contract influenza have a milder illness than unvaccinated individuals.³⁷ With a good match to circulating strains, influenza vaccine prevents illness in 70-90% of healthy children and adults. In years when influenza has changed and strains are less well matched to the vaccine, vaccine efficacy is lower.^{2,8,9}

IS THE INFLUENZA VACCINE SAFE?

The influenza vaccine has been administered routinely in Canada since 1946. Nowadays, about 400 million people around the world get their influenza vaccine each year.^{2,4}

Common safety concerns about influenza vaccine include:

- **Mercury:** The single dose vaccines being do not contain any mercury. All multi-dose vaccines have a form of mercury called thimersal in them to protect them from bacterial contamination. Mercury is a naturally occurring compound, and the amount of mercury in influenza vaccines is not associated with any toxicity.²
- Adjuvant: Adjuvants are substances sometimes added to vaccines to boost the immune response.^{2,4} This year's vaccines for healthcare workers (Agriflu® and Vaxigrip®) do not contain adjuvants.
- **Guillain-Barré Syndrome (GBS)**: GBS is a condition in which an abnormal immune response to infections or antigens causes muscle weakness and paralysis. GBS can be a complication of both influenza infection and influenza vaccination. The chances of developing GBS from influenza vaccine is about one per million doses of vaccine.²² But since vaccination protects you from getting influenza, and GBS is a complication of influenza, vaccination actually protects you overall from GBS.^{23,38}

SHOULD PREGNANT WOMEN GET VACCINATED?

Influenza vaccine is recommended as a priority for all pregnant women by (among others) the Canadian National Advisory Committee on Immunization, The Canadian Society for Obstetrics and Gynecology, Motherisk, and the US Centers for Disease Control.²⁻⁵ Influenza vaccine is an inactivated vaccine which is safe in pregnancy.^{2,4,5,24}

When pregnant women are vaccinated, the antibodies they make in response to the vaccine cross the placenta, and protect their babies from influenza during the first six months of life.³² Studies have shown that pregnant women who get vaccinated are less likely to have babies who are premature or small for gestational age babies.^{31,33}

IS THERE EVIDENCE TO SHOW THAT WEARING A SURGICAL MASK IS EFFECTIVE AT PREVENTING TRANSMISSION OF INFLUENZA VIRUS?

Yes, masks can be worn for one of two reasons:

- By infected people to prevent virus from being spread to others, and
- By people who are not infected to protect themselves.

Studies show that when people with influenza wear a mask, the amount of influenza virus shed into the air around them when they breathe or cough is significantly reduced.^{39,40} There are also studies which show that people who both wear masks and perform hand hygiene frequently are less likely to develop influenza when they are in close contact with people with influenza.⁴¹⁻⁴³





HOW DOES INFLUENZA VACCINE WORK TO BOOST MY IMMUNITY?

When the vaccine is injected in your arm, a small number of immune system cells that are present at the site of the injection recognize the vaccine proteins as foreign and potentially illness causing. Your immune system rapidly increases the number of cells that make antibodies targeted at the surface proteins of the influenza. These antibody producing cells then make antibodies that circulate in your blood and lymphatics.⁴⁴

If you are exposed to the influenza virus, the antibodies bind influenza surface proteins, preventing the virus from invading cells and helping to direct other immune system cells to kill the virus.⁴⁴

IS THE IMMUNE RESPONSE FROM A VACCINE BETTER THAN IF I BUILD MY IMMUNE RESPONSE BY BEING INFECTED BY THE VIRUS?

It doesn't matter to your immune system whether it is responding to proteins (antigens) in a vaccine or proteins that are part of a virus or a bacterium; the response to each protein is similar.⁴⁵

Sometimes – but not always – the immune response to an infection is longer lasting and stronger than to a single dose of a vaccine. This is because there are more antigens in the entire infecting microbe than in more purified vaccines, and because during an infection there may be a higher concentration of the antigens.⁴⁵

For influenza, you get vaccinated every year with antigens from 3 strains, whereas if you get infected, you get infected with 1 strain every 3–10 years.³³ Vaccination gives you more exposure to the most important viral antigens. It's less risky to build your immune response from a vaccine than from exposure. If you are infected, you can get sick and spread the infection to others.

WILL THE INFLUENZA VACCINE LEAVE ME MORE SUSCEPTIBLE TO OTHER ILLNESSES? WILL IT REDUCE MY IMMUNE RESPONSE FOR FIGHTING OFF OTHER VIRUSES OR BACTERIA?

Your immune system is large and complex and is composed of many millions of different types of cells.⁴⁶ Your immune system responds to many antigens every day – in the food you eat and the air your breathe; it is a very small fraction of your immune system that is needed to respond to any one antigen or vaccine, and the rest of the system is more than adequate to maintain your health.⁴⁶

Some infections – like influenza and measles – do make you more prone to other complicating infections. This is because these infections damage cells of your respiratory tract, and perhaps because they cause inflammation elsewhere in your body. Vaccines do not have this effect.⁴⁷

HOW IS THE INFLUENZA VACCINE MADE?

To make influenza vaccine each year, manufacturers are given strains of influenza virus by World Health Organization reference laboratories that contain antigens chosen by the World Health Organization expert group.⁴⁸ Each virus is injected into specially harvested germ-free chicken eggs, and allowed to grow for several days.⁴⁹ The part of the egg called the allantoic fluid – where viruses concentrate – is then removed.⁴⁹ The viruses are killed, and the surface proteins of the virus are extracted and separated. Proteins from the three different strains are then mixed together under sterile conditions to create batches of vaccine.^{48,50,51}

The vaccine is tested by both the manufacturer and government laboratories in each country that uses the vaccine to make sure that the vaccine is sterile, contains the right concentration of virus proteins, and acceptable concentrations of other components (e.g. leftover egg proteins).^{60,61}





WHAT IS HERD IMMUNITY AND WHY IS IT IMPORTANT?

The rate of spread of a virus through a population depends on the chance that one person infected with the virus will come into contact with one or more other members of the population who are susceptible to infection (because they have neither been infected before nor vaccinated). The more people who are vaccinated in the population, the less chance there is that an infected person will be able to pass the virus onto other susceptible people – the virus thus spreads more slowly. If enough people are vaccinated, the people who can't be vaccinated (eg. those with allergies) or those who do not respond well to vaccines (the frail elderly or people who are immunocompromised) are partially protected because the virus spread is slowed. This is what is known as herd immunity.⁵²

CAN PEOPLE WITH EGG ALLERGIES BE SAFELY IMMUNIZED WITH INFLUENZA VACCINE?

In the <u>Statement on Seasonal Influenza Vaccine for 2014–15</u>, the National Advisory Committee on Immunization (NACI) has concluded that egg allergic individuals may be vaccinated against influenza with the full dose of any injectable influenza vaccine in any setting where vaccines are routinely administered.² This change is as a result of new data demonstrating that vaccine is safe for individuals with egg allergies; serious allergic reactions have not been reported.^{53,54,55} The nasal spray vaccine should not be given to egg-allergic individuals as it has not yet been studied. As always, immunizers administering vaccine should be prepared for and have the necessary equipment to respond to a vaccine emergency at all times.

WHAT SHOULD PEOPLE DO IF THEY HAVE HAD A PRIOR ALLERGIC REACTION TO AN INFLUENZA VACCINE?

Different influenza vaccines have somewhat different chemical contents (called "excipients"). For instance, Vaxigrip® may contain trace amounts of neomycin, but Fluviral® does not. Thus, it is possible to be allergic to one influenza vaccine but not to others.^{56,57} Consultation with an experienced allergist is needed to assess which component of the vaccine may have caused the reaction, and whether it is safe to receive an influenza vaccine.

WHY SHOULD I GET VACCINATED WHEN THE VACCINE DOESN'T ALWAYS WORK WELL?

Influenza A (H3N2) sometimes evolves very quickly, and it takes about 6 months to make a vaccine. In 2014, a new strain of influenza A (H3N2) evolved after vaccine preparation had started. This evolution of a new A(H3N2) strain while the vaccine is being prepared happens once every 6-10 years.

Usually, when this happens, the protection vaccination gives healthy adults against influenza drops from about 70% to 40-50%. But in 2014, the new H3N2 strain was very different from previous ones, and vaccine protection was only 0-20%. Although the vaccine worked well against A(H1N1) and B in 2014, most influenza was due to the new strain of A(H3N2). Because the vaccine did not work well against this strain, there was a lot of influenza, and many more people than usual were admitted to hospital and died.

Decisions about vaccination against influenza cannot be made based on one year's experience. Some years, vaccine does not work well against some strains. But averaged over all years, vaccine prevents 60% of influenza in healthy adults.





DOES THE INFLUENZA VACCINE WORK BEST IN THE FIRST YEAR YOU GET IT?

Many factors affect exactly how well influenza vaccine works each year. Some recent studies do suggest that, for some strains of influenza, the influenza vaccine works better in the first year you get it than later years. This doesn't mean that the vaccine doesn't work at all in later years only that it doesn't work quite as well. Because you have to give up the all of benefit of the vaccine in the first year in order for it to work better in the second year, you get the most overall protection from influenza by getting vaccinated every year.





RESOURCES

- 1. Prevention and Management of influenza http://info2/departments/microbiology/infectioncontrol/policies-and-procedures/diseasespecific-policies/VI-d-120-124.doc/view
- 2. Canadian National Advisory Committee on Immunization Statement on Seasonal Influenza Vaccine for 2014-15: http://www.phac-aspc. gc.ca/naci-ccni/flu-grippe-eng.php
- 3. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Prevention and Control of Influenza with Vaccines: Recommendations of the US Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP), update 2012. http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6132a3.htm
- 4. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Prevention and Control of Influenza with Vaccines: Recommendations of the US Advisory
- Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP), 2010. http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/rr5908a1.htm
- 5. Society of Obstetrics and Gynecology of Canada: Immunization during Pregnancy http://www.sogc.org/guidelines/documents/ gui236CPG0911.pdf
- 6. American Academy of Pediatrics: Position statement: Recommendation for mandatory influenza immunization of all health care personnel. Pediatrics 126(4), 2010. http://pediatrics. aappublications.org/content/early/2010/09/13/peds.2010-2376
- 7. American College of Physicians Policy on Influenza Vaccination of Health Care Workers. http://www.acponline.org/clinical_information/ resources/adult_immunization/flu_hcw.pdf
- Couch RB. Prevention and treatment of influenza. N Engl J Med. 343:1778-87, 2000. http://www.nejm.org/doi/full/ 10.1056/ NEJM200012143432407
- Glezen WP. Prevention and Treatment of Seasonal Influenza. N Eng J Med. 359:2579-2585, 2008 http://www.nejm.org/doi /full/10.1056/ NEJMcp0807498
- 10. Bridges CB, et al. Transmission of Influenza: Implications for Control in Health Care Settings. Clin Inf Dis 37:1094–1101,2003. http://cid. oxfordjournals.org/ content/37/8/1094.long
- 11. Thompson WW, et al. Mortality associated with influenza and respiratory syncytial virus in the United States. JAMA 289:179-86,2003. http://jama.ama-assn.org/content/289/2/179.full
- 12. Schanzer DL, Sevenhuysen C, Winchester B, Mersereau T. Estimating influenza deaths in Canada, 1992-2009. PLoS One. 2013 Nov 27;8(11):e80481.
- Kuster SP et al. When should a diagnosis of influenza be considered in adults requiring intensive care unit admission? Results of populationbased active surveillance in Toronto. Crit Care. 2011 Jul 28;15(4):R182 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3387625/pdf/ cc10331.pdf
- 14. Nichol KL, et al. The effectiveness of vaccination against influenza in healthy, working adults. NEJM 333:889-93, 1995. http://www.nejm. org/doi/pdf/10.1056/NEJM199510053331401
- 15. Beran J et al. Efficacy of inactivated split-virus influenza vaccine against culture-confirmed influenza in healthy adults: a prospective, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. J Infect Dis 200:1861-9, 2009. http://jid.oxfordjournals.org/content/200/12/1861.full.pdf+html
- 16. Osterholm M, et al. Efficacy and effectiveness of influenza vaccines: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Infectious Diseases 12:36-44, 2012. http://www.thelancet.com/ journals/laninf/article/PIIS1473-3099(11)70295-X/abstract
- 17. Goevart TM, et al. The efficacy of influenza vaccination in elderly individuals: a randomized double-blind controlled trial JAMA 272:1661-5, 1994. http://jama.ama-assn.org/content/272/21/1661.full.pdf
- 18. Gross PA, et al. The efficacy of influenza vaccine in elderly persons. A meta-analysis and review of the literature. Ann Intern Med 123:518-27, 1995. http://www.annals.org/content/123/7/518.full.pdf+html
- 19. Praditsuwan R, et al. The efficacy and effectiveness of influenza vaccination among Thai elderly persons living in the community. J Med Assoc Thai 88:256-64, 2005. http://www.mat.or.th/ journal/files/Vol88_No2_256.pdf
- 20. Monto AS, et al. Comparative efficacy of inactivated and live attenuated influenza vaccines. N Engl J Med 361:1260-7, 2009. http://www. nejm.org/doi/pdf/10.1056/NEJMoa0808652
- 21. Nichol KL, et al. Side effects associated with influenza vaccine in healthy working adults. Arch Intern Med 156: 1546-50, 1996.
- 22. Price LC. Should I have an H1N1 flu vaccination after Guillain-Barre syndrome? BMJ 339:b3577, 2009. http://www.bmj.com/content/339/ bmj.b3577.full
- Stowe J, et al. Investigation of the temporal association of Guillain-Barre syndrome with influenza vaccine and influenza like illness using the United Kingdom General Practice Research Database. Am J Epidemiol 169:382–8, 2009. http://aje.oxfordjournals.org/ content/169/3/382.full.pdf+html
- 24. Munoz F et al. Safety of influenza vaccines in pregnant women. Am J Obstet Gynecol 207 (3Suppl);S33-7, 2012. http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.ajog.2012.06.072
- 25. Kuster SP, et al. Incidence of Influenza in Healthy Adults and Healthcare Workers: A Systematic Review. PlosOne 6:e26239, 2011.
- Potter J, et al. Influenza vaccination of health care workers in long-term-care hospitals reduces the mortality of elderly patients J Infect Dis. 175:1–6, 1997.
- 27. Carman WF, et al. Effects of influenza vaccination of health-care workers on mortality of elderly people in long term care: a randomized controlled trial. Lancet 355:93–97, 2000.
- 28. Hayward A, et al. Effectiveness of an influenza vaccine programme for care home staff to prevent death, morbidity, and health service use among residents: cluster randomised controlled trial. BMJ 333(7581):1241, 2006. http://www.bmj.com/content/333/7581/1241.full.pdf
- 29. Lemaitre M, et al. Effect of influenza vaccination of nursing home staff on mortality of residents: a cluster-randomized trial. J Am Geriatr Soc 57:1580, 2009.
- 30. Rea E, Upshur R. Semmelweis revisited: the ethics of infection prevention among health care workers. CMAJ 164;1447, 2001.
- 31. Omer S, et al. Maternal Influenza Immunization and Reduced Likelihood of Prematurity and Small for Gestational Age Births: A Retrospective Cohort Study. PLoS Med 2011;8:e1000441
- 32. Zaman K, et al. Effectiveness of Maternal Influenza Immunization in Mothers and Infants. N Engl J Med 2008; 359:1555–1564 http://www. nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMoa0708630
- Steinhoff M, et al. Neonatal outcomes after influenza immunization during pregnancy: a randomized controlled trial. CMAJ 184:645-53, 2012 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pmc/articles/PMC3314035/pdf/1840645.pdf
- 34. Kennedy ED, et al. Monitoring seasonal influenza vaccination coverage among pregnant women in the United States. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 207(3Suppl);S9-16, 2012.http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ajog.2012.06.069
- 35. Talaat M, et al. Effects of hand hygiene campaigns on incidence of laboratory-confirmed influenza and absenteeism in schoolchildren, Cairo, Egypt. Emerg Infect Dis. 17:619-25, 2011http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3377412/





- 36. Ontario Provincial Infectious Diseases Advisory Committee. Prevention of Transmission of Acute Respiratory Infection. http://www.oahpp.ca/resources/pidac-knowledge/best-practice-manuals/prevention-of-transmission-of-acute-respiratory-infection.html
- 37. VanWormer JJ, Sundaram ME, Meece JK, Belongia EA. A cross-sectional analysis of symptom severity in adults with influenza and other acute respiratory illness in the outpatient setting. BMC Infect Dis. 2014 May 1;14:231.
- 38. Hawken S et al. A Simulation Study of the Impact of Influenza Vaccination and Influenza illness on an individual's risk of acquiring Guillain-Barré Syndrome. Emerg Infect Dis in press
- 39. Milton DK, et al. Influenza virus aerosols in human exhaled breath: particle size, culturability, and effect of surgical masks. PLoS Pathog. 2013 ;9:e1003205.
- 40. Johnson DF, Druce JD, Birch C, Grayson ML. A quantitative assessment of the efficacy of surgical and N95 masks to filter influenza virus in patients with acute influenza infection. Clin Infect Dis. 2009; 49:275–7.
- 41. Cowling BJ et al. Facemasks and hand hygiene to prevent influenza transmission in households: a cluster randomized trial. Ann Intern Med. 2009;151:437-46.
- 42. Suess T, et al. The role of facemasks and hand hygiene in the prevention of influenza transmission in households: results from a cluster randomised trial; Berlin, Germany, 2009-2011. BMC Infect Dis. 2012 ;12:26.
- 43. Zhang L, et al. Protection by face masks against influenza A(H1N1)pdm09 virus on trans-Pacific passenger aircraft, 2009. Emerg Infect Dis. 2013;19(9).
- 44. US National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases: How Vaccines Work: http://www.niaid.nih.gov/topics/vaccines/understanding/ pages/howwork.aspx
- 45. US National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases: Immunity Natural and acquired. http://www.niaid.nih.gov/topics/ immunesystem/Pages/immunity.aspx
- 46. Offit PA, et. al. Addressing parents' concerns: do multiple vaccines overwhelm or weaken the infant's immune system? Pediatrics. 2002;109:124-9. http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/109/1/124.full.pdf+html
- 47. Otto S, Mahner B, Kadow I, et al. General non-specific morbidity is reduced after vaccination within the third month of life the Greifswald study. J Infect 2000;41:172-175
- 48. World Health Organization: Influenza vaccine viruses and reagents. http://www.who.int/influenza/vaccines/virus/en/
- 49. International Federation of Pharmaceutical Manufacturers & Associations: information about influenza vaccines Top of Form. http://www. ifpma.org/resources/influenza-vaccines/influenza-vaccines/about-influenza-vaccine.html
- 50. The Regulation of Vaccines for Human Use in Canada http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/dhp-mps/brgtherap/activit/fs-fi/vaccin-reg-eng.php
- 51. How the flu shot makes its way from the laboratory to the doctor's office. http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/dhp-mps/alt_formats/hpfb-dgpsa/pdf/ pubs/2007_flu-grippe_vaccin_pub-eng.pdf
- 52. Kim TH. Seasonal influenza and vaccine herd effect. Clin Exp Vaccine Res. 2014;3:128-32. http://ecevr.org/DOlx.php?id=10.7774/ cevr.2014.3.2.128
- 53. Des Roches A, Paradis L, Gagnon R, et al. Egg-allergic patients can be safely vaccinated against influenza. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2012 ;130:1213-1216.
- 54. Howe LE, Conlon AS, Greenhawt MJ, Sanders GM. Safe administration of seasonal influenza vaccine to children with egg allergy of all severities. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2011;106:446-7.
- 55. Greenhawt MJ, Spergel JM, Rank MA et al. Safe administration of the seasonal trivalent influenza vaccine to children with severe egg allergy. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol. 2012 Dec;109(6):426–30.
- 56. Product monograph Fluviral @ 2014-15. Available at: www.gsk.ca/english/docs-pdf/product-monographs/Fluviral.pdf
- 57. Product monograph Vaxigrip® 2014. Available at: https://www.vaccineshoppecanada.com/document.cfm?file=vaxigrip_e.pdf
- 58. Riphagen–Dalhuisen J, Burgerhof JG, et al. Hospital–based cluster randomised controlled trial to assess effects of a multi–faceted programme on influenza vaccine coverage among hospital healthcare workers and nosocomial influenza in the Netherlands, 2009 to 2011. Euro Surveill.2013 Jun 27;18(26):20512.



